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Preface

It has been the aim of the writer to gather and preserve all
available data concerning the sixty-four persons who, as mem-
bers of Stephen F. Austin’s several colonial enterprises, secured
land grants in the section of Texas territory that now con-
stitutes Grimes county. By far the greater part of this essay
will therefore be biographical in nature. Many of the persons
dealt with are unknown to history. Their lives, for the most
part, were absorbed in local and domestic affairs. Some few
of them, however, were prominent in the political life of the
period. Others offered, and some gave, their lives for the
freedom of Texas when the revolutionary struggle came.
They all contributed to the establishment of Texas as an
Anglo-American state. It is hoped that this effort to record
their services and trace their descendants, will prove of interest
and value to students of Texas history and to the many hun-
dreds of Texans in whose veins today flows the blood of these
sixty-four pioneers. The writer is fully conscious of the fact
that many of Grimes county’s most prominent families do not
come within the scope of this work. An effort has been made
to give some recognition to many of such families in foot-
notes. Concerning many of these families the writer has on
hand much interesting information, and it is hoped that it
will be possible to incorporate it in a later essay. The writer
is not unmindful of the probability that many minor errors
will be found. Some such are inevitable in a work of this
kind because of the great variety of sources from which the
data is drawn. An earnest effort has been made, however, to
distinguish clearly what has been given as facts from what is
based upon rumor. Very scant information is given about
several of the sixty-four original grantees. In some such
instances it has been impossible to locate anyone who could
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PART I

Chapter I
POLITICAL ORGANIZATIONS, 1821-1836

In 1800, after more than two hundred years of Spanish rule,
aside from the Indian population, there were to be found
only three struggling villages in what is today Texas. These
settlements were around what is now Nacogdoches, Goliad,
and San Antonio. Even as late as 1821, the population of
Texas, aside from Indians, was only four thousand souls. Of
these, there was not one settlement between the Colorado and
Trinity rivers.* This vast, fertile region continued to be un-
touched until, in 1821, Stephen F. Austin’s first colony of
three hundred families began to establish themselves therein.?
With the realization of Mexican Independence in 1821 and
the accompanying reorganization, the Spanish province of
Texas with two other provinces (New Leon and Coahuila)
was constituted into what was designated “the Internal States
of the East.”®* The province of Texas had already been di-
vided into two alcalde districts, namely, Colorado and Brazos,
by Governor Jose Felix Trespalacios.* A somewhat different
organization was made a few months later when the new
Federal constitution (dated October 4, 1824) created the new
state of Coahuila and Texas with the capital first at Saltillo,

‘Barker, Potts, and Ramsdell, A4 School History of Texas, 61-63.

"Austin’s Map of Texas, 1822, as published in Barker’s Life of Stephen F.
Austin opposite page 52, shows no other settlement.

:Gbaglmel Laws of Texas, I, 61.

17
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later at Monclova.” In January, 1825, the name of the District
of Brazos was changed by proclamation of Stephen F. Austin
to Bravo, in honor of General Nicolas Bravo, a patriot who
was then Vice-President of the Mexican Republic.® The con-
stitution of the state of Coahuila and Texas (1827) provided
that the new state should be divided into three departments,
namely: Saltillo, Monclova, and Bexar. The latter embraced
all the territory that had formerly been the province of Texas
and formed one sole district.” Four years later (1831) the
department of Bexar was divided into two districts with the
dividing line as follows:*

“Commencing at Point Bolivar on Galveston Bay; thence running
northwesterly to strike between the San Jacinto and Trinity rivers,
following the dividing ridge between the said rivers to the head-
waters of the San Jacinto; thence following the dividing ridge
between the Brazos and the Trinity to the headwaters of the latter,
and terminating north of the source of the said Trinity upon the
Red river.”

In 1833 this line was re-defined, thus:®

“The dividing line . . . . shall commence at the expanse of water
formed by the Trinity and San Jacinto rivers and continue along
the latter to the headwaters thereof ; thence following the line of
Austin’s colony, and by way of the dividing ridge that separates
the Brazos and Trinity rivers, to the headwaters of the latter, termi-
nating north of the source of said river upon the Red river.”

The territory situated east of this line was designated the
District of Nacogdoches with the town of Nacogdoches as

’Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 73.

*Barker, The Austin Papers, in Annual Report of the American Historical
Association for 1919, 11, 1009.

‘Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 424.

*1bid., 281.

*Tbid., 335. .
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capital. This arrangement continued until March 18, 1834,
when by a new decree (No. 270) the territory of Texas was
subdivided into three departments, namely: Bexar, Brazos,
and Nacogdoches. Brazos was a new department, having
been cut out of the old District of Bexar with boundaries as
follows:*

“The dividing line . . . . shall commence at the mouth of the
La Vaca river, and ascending said river to the southern limit of the
former colony of Green de Witt [Dewitt]; thence leaving said
river and following said boundary westward until it crosses the
river Guadalupe; thence, taking a northwesterly direction, and
following the western boundary of the aforesaid colony to the
road leading between Nacogdoches and Bexar; thence north, and
terminating on the Red river.”

The map given on the following page shows these three
departments.** The town of San Felipe de Austin was desig-
nated as the capital of the new department of Brazos.'* These
three Texas departments were subdivided into municipalities,
of which at the outbreak of the revolution in 1836, there were
eighteen, namely: Austin, Bexar, Brazoria, Goliad, Gonzales,
Matagorda, Mina (afterward called Bastrop), Nacogdoches,
San Augustine, San Patricio, Harrisburg, Jasper (formerly
called Bevil), Liberty, Milam (formerly called Viesca),
Refugio, Shelby (or Teneha), Victoria, and Washington.*’

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 335. The brackets are by the writer.

“The map given here is a partial copy of a similar map published by Fulmore
in his History and Geography of Texas as Told in County Names, 126. The
drawing was done for the writer by Mr. Frank Purvis of Navasota, Texas.

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 355.

“Fulmore, History and Geography of Texas as Told in County Names, 278.
There is some doubt as to the status of Harrisburg, Jasper, Liberty, Milam,
Refugio, Shelby, Victoria, and Washington. It may be that they, or some of
them were still only comisario districts. Fulmore listed them all as municipalities.
The writer has not been able to verify this statement. Dr. E. C. Barker, of the
University of Texas, is of the opinion that they were not municipalities, but were
well organized local units.
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According to Fulmore, in his History and Geography of Texas
as Told in County Names, five additional municipalities were
created by the provisional council of 1835, namely: Colorado,
Jackson, Jefferson, Red River, and Sabine.

Local Government: Executive—The executive power in
each of the departments of Coahuila and Texas (1827-1836)
was vested in a political chief who was appointed by the gov-
ernor of the state from a list of three nominated by the state
council. His salary in the Texas departments was eight
hundred dollars per year with an allowance of four hundred
dollars for expenses.’” Under the political chief there was
supposed to be a district sheriff for each of the districts, ap-
pointed by the superior judge of that department. Each dis-
trict sheriff was to be assisted by a subaltern sheriff of which
there was to be one in each municipality. There was to be
also a constable in each comisario district.’® It is not clear,
however, that the system thus provided by law was carried
out in actual practice.

Legislative—The legislative power of the state of Coahuila
and Texas was, in 1834, vested in a unicameral house in which
each Texas department was represented by one deputy and
one substitute deputy elected by district electoral assemblies,
the members of such assemblies having been elected by popu-
lar vote from the municipal districts into which the depart-
ments were divided."

The Ayuntamiento.—The real unit of local government was
the ayuntamiento. There was one in each municipality. It
was composed of alcaldes, rigidores, and a sindico. The
number of these officers varied somewhat, being based upon

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 444.
*Ibid., 356.
“Ibid., 385.
"Ibid., 356.
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the population of the municipality.’* In municipalities con-
taining a population of less than five thousand, there was one
alcalde who served as president of the ayuntamiento. With
him were two regidores and one sindico procurador. In
municipalities where the population exceeded this number,
two more regidores were added.** In those towns where
ayuntamientos could not be established and which were too
far distant to be incorporated under the jurisdiction of an-
other ayuntamiento, local administrative affairs were admin-
istered by a comisario and a sindico procurador; such officers
being chosen by the electoral junta of the district to which
the community belonged.® To be qualified to serve as a
member of an ayuntamiento one had to be at least twenty-five
years of age, or twenty-one years of age and married. He
must have been for three years a resident in the municipality
for which he was to serve, and one year immediately preced-
ing election. Members of ayuntamientos were required to
have some capital or trade whereby to subsist and be able to
rdad and write. The tenure of an alcalde was one year. One-
half of the regidores were to be replaced every year and like-
wise with the sindicos except in instances where there was
only one, then he was to be replaced annually. Members of
ayuntamientos were elected by municipal assemblies held in
the same manner as in the election of deputies to the state

-

congress. ‘The appointment could not be declined. In case -

of vacancy by death or other causes, the person receiving the
next highest number of votes in that respective list succeeded
to the office® The ayuntamiento of San Felipe de Austin,
the first in the Anglo-American settlement, was installed on

BGammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 429-431.
B1bid., 347.
*1bid., 446.
"1bid., 446.
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February 12, 1828. The powers and duties of ayuntamientos
were defined by decree number thirty-seven of the Laws of
Coahuila and Texas.*

Judiciary.—In 1834 Texas constituted one judicial circuit
and the superior court was known as the “Superior Judicial
Court of Texas.” This circuit was subdivided into three
judicial districts, they being identical with the three adminis-
trative departments, namely: Brazos, Bexar, and Nacog-
doches.*® The superior court was by law composed of one
superior judge, one secretary, and one sheriff. There was
such a court in each of the three judicial districts. In criminal
cases there was added one prosecuting attorney and a jury of
twelve men. The opinion of eight jurors would convict. A
judge was required to be at least twenty-five years of age and
a lawyer by profession. Judges were appointed by the state
congress on the nomination of the governor and drew a
salary of three thousand dollars per year. A superior judge
could be removed from office only for causes legally mani-
fested and proved.** Court was to be held every three months
in each of the three districts as follows: in Bexar, beginning
on the first Monday in January, April, and August; in Brazos,
beginning on the first Monday in February, May, and Septem-
ber; in Nacogdoches, beginning on the first Monday in
Match, June, and October.®® For the trial of civil cases there
was in every municipality a tribunal composed of a judge
and a subaltern sheriff. The latter officer was elected in the
same manner as the alcaldes. In addition to the courts named
above, there was in each commissary district a comisario and

——

*Barker, “Minutes of the Ayuntamiento of San Felipe de Austin,” Quarterly,
fXXI, 299-301. Sections of decree number thirty-seven are reprinted by Barker in
ootnote,

®Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1. 365.

“Ibid., 365-366.

®1bid., 366.
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a constable to execute his orders. These constables were re-
quired to have the same qualifications as the comisarios and
were elected in the same manner and at the same time.*
Manner of Selecting Jurors.—Both civil and criminal cases
were tried before a jury of twelve men, the verdict of eight
of whom would convict. These jurors were selected in
the following manner: Each comisario, at the beginning
of the year, furnished his ayuntamiento with a list of names
of all citizens in his jurisdiction who were qualified to seive
as jurors. These names, each written on individual slips, were
stored in boxes, there being one box for each comisario dis-
trict. During the month prior to the opening session of court,
the secretary, in the presence of the ayuntamiento, drew from
each box a name until he had thus drawn thirty-six names.
The names thus drawn were then placed in a separate box
and a list of them was furnished the sheriff for citation.”
The selection for jurors in criminal cases was made in much
the same manner, except that here the unit was the munici-
pality rather than the comisario district. Each municipal
ayuntamiento was required to remit each year to the ayunta-
miento at the capital a list of the qualified jurors in their
respective municipalities. Such names were written separately

on slips and stored in boxes, there being one box for each ,

municipality. The secretary of the ayuntamiento at the cap-
ital drew from each box a number of names which multiplied
by the number of municipalities in that judicial district would
produce a result not less than thirty-six. A list of the names

thus drawn was then furnished the subaltern sheriffs that they

might cite those citizens to appear at the capital in due time.”
Militia.—The civic militaty force of the state of Coahuila

*®Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 365.
“1bid., 365.
®1bid., 366.

-~
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and Texas was made up of a corps of militia organized in
each town.*® Four companies were organized in the munici-
pality of Austin, March 21, 1829. Among the officers are
found the names of several men then residing in the vicinity
of the present county of Grimes. In the First Company ap-
pears the following officers who then held land in what is now
Grimes county: Jesse Grimes, lieutenant; Leonard W. Groce,
sub-lieutenant; and Francis Holland, second sergeant. The
name of John Bowman appears in connection with the Fourth
Company. He is listed as lieutenant but the records fail to
show whether he qualified.®

®Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 451.
“Barker, “Minutes of the Ayuntamiento of San Felipe de Austin,” Quarterly,

XXI, 408-409. For additional information concetning these men see Chapter
Pour of this thesis.
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Chapter 1II

ORIGIN, ORGANIZATION, AND SUBDIVISION
OF WASHINGTON MUNICIPALITY

Origin and Organization of Washington Municipality.—
According to the data the writer has been able to obtain, the
municipality of Washington was never officially established
by the Mexican government. It came into existence after the
meeting of the Convention of October, 1832, and before the
meeting of the Consultation, October, 1835. This is evident
from the fact that while no mention is made of a Washington
municipality in the reports of the proceedings of the Con-
vention of 1832, in the record of the proceedings of the
Consultation (October, 1835) we find Washington listed as
a separate municipality. Among her delegates, in 1835, ap-
pears the name of Jesse Grimes, who, in 1832, represented
the municipality of Viesca.®® The municipality of Viesca
had been created November 1, 1830; it having been cut from
the precinct of Bastrop. Viesca included a large part of the
territory east of the Brazos river which afterward formed a
part of Washington municipality.”* Among the delegates
from the municipality of Viesca at the Convention of Ociober,
1832, are found the names of three men known to have re-
sided in what later became Grimes county, namely: Joshua

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, I, 496 and 544,

“Barker, “Minutes of the Ayuntamiento of San Felipe de Austin,” Quarterly,
XXII, 357. The precinct of Viesca was created November 1, 1830, with metes
and bounds as follows:

“Beginning at the crossing of the Cushatte road on the east or left bank of the
Brazos, thence up in a direct line of the Atascosito road at a point on the said road
which shall be four leagues from the Brazos river, thence along said road to the divide
between the San Jacinto and Trinity rivers, thence following said divide northwardly to
the San Antonio road, thence along said road to the Brazos river, thence following the
meanderings of said river down to the place of beginning.”
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Hadley, Jared E. Groce, and Jesse Grimes.* Some other
territory east of the Brezos river (in addition to that par
which formerly formed a part of the municipality of Viesca)
afterward to constitute a part of Washington municipality,
was at this time (1830) included in the precinct of San Jacinto,
which then included all settlements on the waters of the San
Jacinto river below the Atascosita road.** The writer, in his .
efforts to determine the date of the creation of Washington |
municipality, finds that a petition, dated July 2, 1835, and
addressed to the political chief of the department of Brazos |
(at that time James B. Miller) explains that a similar petition
had been presented the year before and had been approved
by the ayuntamiento at San Felipe de Austin but for some |
reason was never acted upon by the state congress of that
year. The petition of July 2, 1835, prayed the political chief -
on his own authority to order the organization of the new
municipality. The following names were signed to this pe-
tition: John P. Cloes (Cole), James Whitesides, Shubael
Marsh, John J. Wynche, Epps D. Payne, Asa Hoxey, John
Newell (?), James Clark, Baldon ( ?) Robinson, M. Cummings, :
J. G. Wilkinson, William W. Hawkins, Jesse B. Atkinson,
John H. Allcorn, John B. Thompson, James G. Swisher, John
Graham (?), Thos. G. (?) Allen, John G. Conner, W. A.
Hall, J. J. Allcorn (?), William H. Miller, Francis G.
Clampitt (?), E. D. Jackson, (?) Soop, William H. Hill,
William Lewis (?), Ashley R. Stevens (?), E. G. Evitt (?),
James Moore, J. B. Chanie (?), Elijah Alcorn, G. W. Bar-
nett, John F. Guthrie, D. T. A. Thomson, Alfred M. Cooper,
Horatio Chriesman, Stephen R. Roberts, Hiram Beales, and

BGammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 479.

*Barker, "Minutes of the Ayuntamiento of San Felipe de Austin,” Quarterly, '
XXI, 415. °
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Thomas Dillard.*®* James B. Miller seems to have done what
the petitioners requested for he transmitted a letter to his
successor (Wyly Martin), dated July 19, 1835, in which he
makes the following statement:

“I have permitted the Jurisdiction of Washington to organize
provisionally every man in the jurisdiction has signed a petition
requesting said organization as their territory is extensive and this
point is too far, their petition passed through this ayuntamiento to
the Govt and was not acted upon by the Govt. last session, which
causes great dissatisfaction, as soon as the Govt was again ot-
ganized I intended to report them as in an organized condition
and pray the Govt to legalize their proceedings as every man has
signed this petition for the provissional organization no man can
plead to the jurisdiction of the courts. . .. ”

The election of officers for the new municipality of Wash-
ington was held on Saturday, July 18, 1835, and the following
officers were elected: alcalde, Joshua Hadley; regidors, Jesse
Grimes and Asa Mitchell; sindico procurador, A. C. Reynolds;
sheriff, John W. Hall. On the following page is a copy of
the recapitulation of the votes as reported by Thos. S. Saul,
secretary.®® The new ayuntamiento nominated James B.
Miller for appointment by the political chief as judge in the

®*Winkler, “Documents Relating to the Municipality of Washington,”” Quarterly,
X, 86-87. Another copy of the same petition had the following names thereon:
J. M. Splan, David Trast, S. Moris, J. H. Wood, Robert J. Clow, H. J. William-
son, M. T. Martin, James Lynch, Sam R. Miller, Bethel Morris, John Lott, Thos.
S. Saul, Moses Evans, J. W. Simpson, Wm. Copenhaven, Ches. J. Young, J. F. Q.
Walkerterson (?), Lewis Jones, Samuel Henry (or Herney), James Gray, Noah
T. (?) Byars, James Balantine, Peter M. Mercer, Isaac Connelly, and Wm. C.
Jones. The question marks were copied from the article cited above. It is sig-
nificant that the names of such men as Jared E. Groce, Jesse Grimes, Joshua
Hadley, and other settlers on the east side of the Brazos, are not found on either
list. It appears that there must have been other copies, or that the petition was
hastily gotten up by the citizens of the town of Washington.

35]hid., 98: The table given on the opposite page was published by Winkler.
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new municipality, and at the same time suggested Moses
Cummings, James Hall, Senior, Shubael Marsh, and S. R.
Roberts as supernumeraries. Record of this action is found
in a note dated at Washington, July 28, 1835, and signed by
Joshua Hadley.*” In October, 1835, Washington munici-
pality was represented in the Consultation by five men,
namely: Asa Mitchell, E. Collard, Asa Hoxey, Phillip Coe,
and Jesse Grimes.”® Of these, it is known that Jesse Grimes
then resided within the limits of the present county of
Grimes.*® These men took an active part in the work of the
Consultation. Asa Mitchell served on the committee that
drafted the declaration setting forth the causes that forced
the Texans to take up arms and the objects for which they
fought** Among the signers of the Declaration of Inde-
pendence are found the names of two men, namely: Benjamin
Briggs Goodrich and Jesse Grimes, both of whom had their
residence in what is now Grimes county.** In the General
Council that followed the Consultation the municipality of
Washington was represented by Jesse Grimes.** In the Con-
vention of March, 1836, it is found that two of the four
delegates from Washington municipality were residents of
what is now Grimes county, they being Jesse Grimes and B. B.
Goodrich, both of whom signed the Constitution of the
Republic of Texas.** The Constitution of the Republic of
Texas erected the municipality of Washington into Washing-
ton county and provided that it should be represented in the

“Winkler, “Documents Relating to the Municipality of Washington,” Quarterly,
X, 100.

*Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 544.

®Ibid, 1066; and Abstract of Texas Land Titles, 1, 604.

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 514.

“1bid., 1066; and Abstract of Texas Land Titles, 1, 604.

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1, 534.

“lbid., 824 and 1084-1085. The other two delegates were S. Swisher and
G. W. Barnett.
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Congress of the Republic by one senator and two representa
tives.* The new county of Washington then contained ter-
ricory since formed into nine counties. The diagram on the
following page shows these nine counties and indicates the
process of subdivision that resulted in their creation.*
Creation of Montgomery County.—The territory later
to become Grimes county continued to form a part of
Washington county until the creation of the new county of
Montgomery by an act of the Congress of the Republic of
Texas, December 14, 1837. This act provided that the new
county should include all of what had been Washington
county east of the Brazos river, and appointed the following
men as commissioners with power to select a proper place

for the county seat and to purchase land for the same: James |

Mitchell, Pleasant Grey, William Robinson, Elijah Collard,
Charles Barnett, Joseph L. Bennett, B. B. Goodrich, D. D.
Dunham, and Henry Fanthorp. The new county was entitled
to one representative in Congress, and with Washington
county, constituted one senatorial district.** Its boundaries
were defined by the Congress of the Republic of Texas (May
24, 1838) with metes and bounds as follows:*

“Beginning at a pomt on the east side of the Navasota river,
where the San Antonio road crosses the same; thence eastwardly
with said road to the Trinity river; thence down said river to the
boundary line of the county of beerry thence west and south with
the boundary line of the county of Harrisburg; thence west with

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, 1078, and Winkler, “Documents Relating to Wash
ington Municipality,” Quarterly, X, 96.

“The diagram was taken from Fulmore’s History and Geography of Texas as
Told in County Names, 288. The information is incomplete, but is given just
as it was printed by Fulmore. The county now known as Brazos was formerly
called “Navasota.” The name having changed to Brazos, January 28, 1842.
(Gammel, Laws of Texas, 11, 745.)

“Gammel, Laws of Texas, I 1375-1376.

“Ibid., 1518.
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